Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Autoimmunity Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/autrev

Review Mechanotransduction and epigenetic control in autoimmune diseases

Sergio González ^{a,c,d}, Sergio Aguilera ^b, Ulises Urzúa ^a, Andrew F.G. Quest ^{a,e}, Claudio Molina ^d, Cecilia Alliende ^a, Marcela Hermoso ^a, María-Julieta González ^{a,*}

^a University of Chile, Chile

^b INDISA Clinic, Chile

^c Universidad San Sebastián, Chile

^d Mayor University, Chile

^e Center for Molecular Studies of the Cell (CEMC), Chile

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 1 September 2010 Accepted 25 September 2010 Available online 20 October 2010

Keywords: Sjögren's syndrome Salivary acini Hemidesmosomes ECM Integrin receptors Cytoskeleton Nucleus Tensegrity Mechanotransduction

Contents

ABSTRACT

Differentiation of epithelial cells is required to define tissue architecture and appropriate function of these cells is associated with a specific pattern of gene expression. DNA methylation, post-translational modification of histones and chromatin remodeling are nuclear mechanisms implicated in epigenetic control of gene expression. All factors relevant to tissue differentiation, including cell adhesion and shape, extracellular stimuli and transcriptional control, modulate gene expression and, thus, some of them are likely to impact on nuclear mechanisms of epigenetic control. The epithelial cells of salivary glands from Sjögren's syndrome patients display alterations in cell adhesion and shape. In this review, we summarize how these alterations are thought to lead to chromatin remodeling and, in doing so, bring about changes in transcriptional patterns. Additionally, we discuss how mechanotransduction in cells with impaired structural organization is implicated in modifying gene expression in these patients.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1	Introduction 1	75			
1.		15			
2.	Alterations in structural continuum of acini and ducts	76			
3.	Epigenetic mechanisms	76			
	3.1. Epigenetics of autoimmune diseases	77			
	3.2. Mechanotransduction and epigenetics	78			
4.	Hemidesmosome organization	78			
	4.1. Control of BP230 expression	78			
	4.1.1. Epigenetic control	78			
	4.1.2. Gene expression controlled by IFN- γ	78			
5.	Concluding remarks	78			
Take-home messages					
Acknowledgements					
References					

1. Introduction

Maintenance of and alterations in cellular function are linked to the existence of biochemical signaling pathways that convert extracellular cues into a cellular response. While our general understanding of these processes has increased enormously in the last 20–30 years, mechanisms

^{*} Corresponding author. Instituto de Ciencias Biomédicas, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Chile, Código postal 8389100, Santiago, Chile. Tel.: +56 2 978 6017; fax: +56 2 737 3158.

E-mail address: jgonzale@med.uchile.cl (MJ. González).

^{1568-9972/\$ –} see front matter 0 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2010.09.022

of mechanotransduction remain poorly understood. Experimental evidence indicates that a physical continuum exists within cells, which directly connects the extracellular matrix (ECM) to the nucleus, whereby adhesion receptors (integrins) in the plasma membrane in conjunction with the cytoskeleton are thought to constitute this structure [1]. Cell shape is essential to maintain this continuum. Furthermore, changes in cell behavior depend on mechanical signals received by the cell from the environment [1]. Variations in both gene expression and cell shape are relevant in this context. For instance, changes in responses can be expected if a given cell type adheres to different substrates or may depend on whether these cells are cultured in standard two-dimensional (2D) or three-dimensional (3D) gel-ECM based systems [2]. Such altered gene expression cannot be explained simply as the consequence of independent responses in the cytoplasm, organelles or the nucleus. Rather, the responses must be viewed as the result of an operationally integrated system, within a common cellular environment. In this context, the pioneering work of Bissell et al. [3] has provided insights to differences between normal and pathological cell behavior in 3D cultures. In contrast to 2D cultures, such 3D cultures recapitulate more closely the situation of a cell in vivo.

The nature and characteristics of this physical continuum between subcellular compartments and ECM, as well as the transduction of mechanical signals have been extensively studied by Ingber et al. [4]. These authors proposed a tensional integrity model for cell architecture, which they coined "tensegrity". This model considers that structural stability is achieved by the integration of balanced continuous tension and components of discontinuous compression. The tensegrity concept is inspired by the view portrayed in Fuller's geodesic dome, where mechanical stress is uniformly distributed all over the dome surface by means of triangular elements known as struts. In the cellular context, this model proposes that the whole cell is a pre-stressed tensegrity structure. Tensional forces are transduced by cytoskeletal microfilaments, as well as intermediate filaments, and these forces are balanced by interconnected structural elements that resist compression, most notably, internal microtubule struts and ECM adhesions [4].

ECM adhesions, such as hemidesmosomes (HD) are involved in tensional integrity of epithelial cell architecture and generate a structural continuum from ECM to the nucleus [1]. In the plasma membrane, $\alpha 6\beta 4$ -integrin connects monomeric and polymeric ECM proteins with cytoplasmatic proteins, including plectin, BP180, BP230 and cytokeratin intermediate filaments, as well as nuclear envelope proteins of the nesprin family [1]. Focal adhesions can also participate in mechanotransduction mediated by additional integrin dimers, which interact with actin microfilaments, and via nesprin, bind nuclear envelope proteins (Fig. 1) [1]. Changes in cell shape, integrity or the position of adhesive elements and cell motility, among other factors, are able to generate forces of tension and compression that propagate to the nucleus, where they induce chromatin remodeling, resulting in activation or repression of gene expression [5].

Epithelial cells from salivary glands of Sjögren's syndrome (SS) patients display alterations in various components of this structural ECM–nucleus continuum [6–11]. In this review, we will focus on the adhesion complex termed HD, since it plays an essential role in ECM interactions with subcellular components, including the nucleus. The final consequence of this connection is the modulation of epigenetic control of gene expression.

2. Alterations in structural continuum of acini and ducts

The morphology of acinar and ductal cells is the consequence of the architectural organization of acini and ducts. The cell shape depends on the presence of structures that maintain cell polarity once established. In the apical region, tight junction (TJ) protein complexes generate cell polarity by restricting the flow of plasma membrane proteins between membrane regions. Thus, two structurally and functionally distinct

membrane domains containing specific components are generated, namely the apical and basolateral cell poles. In the basal region, cell polarity is controlled by adhesion complexes that link the ECM to the actin cytoskeleton (focal adhesions) and intermediate filaments (HD) through integrin-type adhesion receptors [2]. The basal lamina (BL) is a particular ECM component connected directly to the cell via polymeric laminin and type-IV collagen networks, which are additionally cross-linked, predominantly by proteoglycans and nidogens. The pyramidal form of acinar and ductal cells emerges as the result of the interplay between cytoskeletal filament networks attached to cell–cell and cell–ECM adhesions [2].

ECM remodeling is regulated by MMPs and their cognate tissue inhibitors (TIMPs). Acinar and ductal cells of SS-patients show increased MMP3 and MMP9 together with decreased TIMP1 levels, which facilitate degradation of BL components [10]. The α 6 β 4-integrin is redistributed within the basal plasma membrane and is then endocytosed upon loss of the laminin-332 connection, an essential component of HD organization (Table 1) [8,11]. In the apical domain, TJ alterations lead to apical pole disorganization with the concomitant loss of microvilli and an increase in the diameter of the acinar lumen [12]. Expression of ezrin, a microvilli protein, is increased and it relocalizes to the basal region of acini [13]. Nuclei from acinar cells lose their polarity and some acinar cells even lose BL attachment [6,9]. As a consequence, the cells undergo changes in shape. Taken together, these observations suggest, within the context of the tensional integrity model, that salivary epithelial cells of SS-patients are in a state of increased stress. The resulting alterations in the ECM-nuclear continuum trigger changes in gene expression of acinar and ductal cells, which in turn favor further modifications of the functional architecture. Indeed, studies from our group comparing salivary epithelial cells from SS-patients and controls by micro-array analysis detected a total of 528 genes with significant differences in mRNA expression levels [14]. Given that several of these genes are known to contain CpG-rich islands and potential methylation sites (see next section) it would appear reasonable to speculate that at least a fraction of these transcriptional alterations reflect changes in epigenetic regulation.

3. Epigenetic mechanisms

Gene expression depends on specific regulatory DNA elements upstream of the coding sequence, the activation state of different transcription factors and the structural organization of the chromatin. The latter variable is epigenetically controlled by a variety of modifications, including DNA methylation and post-translational histone modifications (acetylation, methylation, sumoylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination) [15]. Such changes in chromatin structure may either repress or enhance gene transcription. Methylation occurs in a tissuespecific manner across the genome on C5' of the cytosine ring in motifs known as CpG islands [16]. Methylation within the promoter or intron regions usually suppresses gene expression. Moreover, post-translational histone processing is a mechanism of epigenetic control that modifies the accessibility of transcription factors to gene sequences. Thus, the acetylation of histones H3 and H4, mediated by histone acetyl transferases (HAT), favors activation of transcription. Conversely, the methylation of histone H3 in lysine 9, mediated by methyl transferases, produces suppression of transcription [16]. Another mechanism of epigenetic control involves microRNAs (miRNAs). These are small RNAs of 19-25 nucleotides that reduce gene expression, either by precluding mRNA translation or by enhancing mRNA degradation. This is generally thought to be achieved by binding to the 3'UTR of the respective mRNAs [17].

Many studies have demonstrated that DNA methylation and histone deacetylation can synergistically regulate gene expression by means of mediator proteins like MECP2 (methyl CpG binding protein). The tight cooperation between these two mechanisms is important to maintain nuclear architecture. Therefore, changes in



Fig. 1. Continuum structure of a salivary gland acinar cell. The schematic figure shows an epithelial acinar cell with a pyramidal shape and well-defined apico-basolateral polarity. Different components of the cytoskeleton (intermediate filaments, microfilaments and microtubules) are shown to interact with proteins like plakins. The cytoskeleton also connects cell-cell (desmosomes) and cell-ECM (hemidesmosomes and focal adhesion) complexes to the nuclear envelope, where both outer (e.g.: Nesprin) and inner (e.g.: Sun) nuclear membrane proteins are involved. Finally, this continuum is directly linked to chromatin via lamina proteins and hence connects the extracellular environment with the nucleus in a way that can alter gene expression without the need for diffusible intermediates. Alterations in the organization of this continuum are also likely to trigger epigenetic modifications in the genome. In SS-patients, altered cellular mechanotransduction signaling can be caused by changes in: 1. The extracellular environment, examples here being variations in the degree of deformation due to mechanical stress that is experienced by tissues or changes in extracellular matrix (ECM) composition that affect stiffness and biochemical properties; 2. Shape and organization of acinar cells; 3. Elements of the mechanotransduction system itself. INM: inner nuclear membrane, ONM: outer nuclear membrane, ER: endoplasmic reticulum, MTOC: microtubule-organizing complex, NPC: nuclear pore complex.

Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [Nature Review Mol Cell Biol] [1], copyright (2007).

epigenetic methylation patterns are likely to have profound effects on cellular function.

3.1. Epigenetics of autoimmune diseases

The participation of epigenetic mechanisms in disease processes was formerly established when DNA methylation was identified as an

Table 1

mRNA levels, protein levels and localization of type-I HD components in LSG cells from	n
SS-patients in relation to control individuals.	

	mRNA levels	Protein levels	Localization
α 6 integrin	=	↑	Altered
β4 integrin	=	\downarrow	Altered
BP230	\downarrow	↑	Preserved
BP180	=	\downarrow	Preserved
Laminin332	↑	↑	Altered

=, unchanged; ↑, increases; ↓ decreases. LSG: Labial salivary gland.

important factor in tumor biology [18]. Currently, impaired epigenetic control has been linked to the pathogenesis of various autoimmune diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), systemic sclerosis and SS [19,20]. For T and B-lymphocytes isolated from peripheral blood of SLE and RA patients global and gene-specific hypomethylations are detected [21–23]. Similar observations have been made upon analysis of synoviocytes from RA patients. However, some exceptions have been reported. For instance, the DR3 gene promoter is hypermethylated in these cells. Thus, the methylation status of genes is differentially regulated in a tissue-specific manner and changes can result in the development of a pathological cell phenotype [24]. Recent findings add yet another layer of complexity, since over-expression of miRNAs (miR-574 and MiR-768-2p) was shown to participate in the epigenetic control of gene expression in salivary glands of SS patients [25].

Moreover, environmental factors may modulate DNA methylation inducing changes in chromatin structure and gene expression of T-cells. This mechanism would result in immune system hyperactivity. In this context, demethylating drugs such as 5-azacytidine, procainamide and hydralazine can also induce lupus-like autoimmunity, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [26–28].

3.2. Mechanotransduction and epigenetics

As stated previously, HDs play an important role in shape and cell organization. Changes in architecture and organization of the nucleus are associated with changes in the physical continuum between ECM-cytoskeleton and nucleoskeleton. The cytoskeleton is linked to the nucleoskeleton through a specialized anchorage structure named "linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton complex" (LINC). Nesprin, sun and lamin protein families are components of LINC [29]. The carboxy-terminal end of the KASH domain of nesprin-3 binds to sun, a nuclear envelope integral membrane protein. Spectrin binds to the amino-end of nesprin-3 and also to cytokeratin intermediate filaments, thereby connecting the nucleus directly with HD [29,30]. Connections within the nucleus are mediated by nuclear lamina (lamins A, B1, B2 and C) and associated proteins like emerin. Lamin proteins are nuclear envelope proteins that may bind directly to chromatin or via intermediate proteins, including emerin, LBR LAP, among others [29] (Fig. 1). These associations modulate changes in chromatin structure. Therefore, the nuclear lamina can be viewed as a transducer of mechanical signals from the cell surface to the nucleus. Mechanical stress produced by cell adhesion to ECM is linked to an increase in H3 and H4 histone acetylation that favors the formation of transcriptionally active chromatin [5,29].

A typical example of mechanotransduction is lactotransferrin production in mammary gland cells. When these cells are grown in the absence of soluble factors, the ECM adopts a round shape and produces lactotransferrin. If culture conditions are changed, cells become flat and lactotransferrin synthesis is suppressed [31]. Integrin redistribution has been proposed to explain these shape changes. In contrast, β -casein production is regulated by both physical and chemical signals [5]. High levels of mRNA for lactotransferrin were detected with DNA microarrays in a cell fraction enriched in labial salivary glands (LSG) epithelial cells from SS-patients [14]. These changes were associated with alterations in the distribution of $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrin and acinar cell shape. The increase in lactotransferrin gene transcription may reflect activation by novel mechanotransduction signaling pathways. Moreover, in LSG from SS-patients, ECM remodeling may alter the transmission of mechanical forces and thereby generate these new signals.

4. Hemidesmosome organization

The HDs are protein complexes that mediate adhesion of epithelial cells to ECM. The HD core is composed of an α 6 β 4 integrin dimer, which binds to laminin-332 through its extracytoplasmic domain and to plectin via its intracytoplasmic domain [32,33]. This complex is known as type-II HD. Additional binding of BP230 protein (cytoplasm) and BP180 protein (transmembrane) gives rise to type-I HD [34,35]. Both complexes interact with cytokeratin filaments. Altered expression of any of these proteins generates a pathological cell phenotype, as observed in epidermolysis bullosa and bullous pemphigoid. In the second case, the disease state is associated with production of BP230 and BP180 auto-antibodies. For both of the two aforementioned proteins, alterations in expression levels are detected in SS-patients [7]. Full length BP180 protein was decreased without any apparent change in mRNA levels [7] (Table 1). Rather, increased BP180 proteolysis mediated by ADAM17 to generate the LAD-1 fragment was held responsible for these observations.

4.1. Control of BP230 expression

BP230 is a cytosolic protein that belongs to the plakin family and binds intermediate filaments. BP230 is a splice variant of the dystonin gene that is located in chromosome 6. Its promoter region contains response elements for TGF- β and IFN- γ [36]. Analysis using bioinformatics in our laboratory identified two CpG islands in the promoter region, which may be subject to methylation and account for downregulation of gene expression. Levels of BP230 mRNA in epithelial cells of SS-patients are significantly decreased compared to controls. Paradoxically, elevated BP230 protein levels are detected and the protein accumulates predominantly on the basal surface of acini [7]. Taken together, these observations suggest the existence of a complex regulatory network involving changes in gene expression, protein synthesis and degradation [7]. Increased presence of the BP230 protein and particularly increased presence in the basolateral membrane are likely to enhance interactions with elements of the structural continuum, between ECM and the nucleus, and thereby bring about further changes.

4.1.1. Epigenetic control

In SS-patients, the methylation index of CpG islands in the BP230 gene promoter of LSG is increased and may account for the observed reduction in BP230 mRNA [7]. For synoviocites obtained from damaged joints of RA patients, a decrease in global DNA methylation is detected [37,38], while for specific genes like DR3, an inducer of apoptosis, increased promoter methylation was reported and linked to an enhanced survival [24]. Global DNA methylation of LSG from SSpatients may be decreased as in RA and SLE, but specific genes appear to be hypermethylated, as is the case for BP230. Differential changes in promotor methylation may partly explain gene up- and downregulation detected with DNA microarrays in epithelial enriched LSG samples from SS-patients. One of the top-ranked over-expressed genes in this study was MMP9 [14]. In lymphoma, MMP9 expression is up-regulated by promoter hypomethylation, while in U3A cells stimulated with IFN-y, MMP9 expression is down-regulated due to sequestration of the histone acetyltransferase CBP/p300 by STAT-1 α [39]. Both in normal and SLE T-cells, histone acetyltransferase CBP/ p300 is sequestered by CREM α thus decreasing transcription of the IL2 mRNA [40-42]. Interestingly, infiltrating T-cells in salivary glands from SS-patients showed increased IL-2 levels [43] suggesting that different mechanisms modulating IL2 expression may operate in this disease

As described for MMP9, CUL3 is similarly up-regulated in SS-patients, but by an alternative mechanism. In renal and prostate cancer, CUL3 expression is modulated by several miRNAs. Indeed, down-regulation of miRNAs MIR22, MIR23A, MIR181A and MIR181C induces CUL3 up-regulation [44]. Conversely, MIR23A is highly expressed in parotid exosomes from SS-patients [45].

4.1.2. Gene expression controlled by IFN- γ

BP230 expression can also be regulated by biochemical signals including IFN- γ . Among other cytokines, acinar and ductal cells, as well as inflammatory infiltrating cells from SS-patients produce IFN- γ . Evidence supporting the notion that IFN- γ regulates BP230 expression has been obtained in keratinocytes [46,47]. The IFN- γ signaling pathway induces activation of transcription factors IRF1 and IRF2, which recognize the response elements IRF and IGIE, both located in the BP230 gene promoter region. Upon binding of these factors, transcription of BP230 mRNA is suppressed [36,47].

5. Concluding remarks

An integrated view of biochemical and physical signals is needed for a better understanding of cellular mechanisms leading to epigenetic control of gene expression in autoimmune diseases. Physiological and patho-physiological processes should be addressed by studying the expression of key genes within the context of defined cell architecture. Many factors are involved in the genesis of autoimmune diseases and, thus, the approaches outlined are likely to be helpful in shedding light on these complex issues. Clearly, further work is needed to elucidate how the structural continuum between ECM and the nucleus is involved in autoimmune diseases.

Take-home messages

- Cell shape is important for gene expression.
- Mechanotransduction involves a complex network of protein-protein interactions that activates epigenetic mechanisms.
- The effect of the extranuclear environment on control of gene expression is critical for tissue-specific differentiation and, part of this effect is mediated by a structural continuum that connects the extracellular matrix with the nucleus.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Prof. Yehuda Shoenfeld for his encouraging comments at the recent LACA 2010 meeting in Buenos Aires and the invitation to write this review.

References

- Herrmann H, Bar H, Kreplak L, Strelkov SV, Aebi U. Intermediate filaments: from cell architecture to nanomechanics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007;8(7):562–73.
- [2] Plachot C, Chaboub LS, Adissu HA, Wang L, Urazaev A, Sturgis J, et al. Factors necessary to produce basoapical polarity in human glandular epithelium formed in conventional and high-throughput three-dimensional culture: example of the breast epithelium. BMC Biol 2009;7:77.
- [3] Novaro V, Roskelley CD, Bissell MJ. Collagen-IV and laminin-1 regulate estrogen receptor alpha expression and function in mouse mammary epithelial cells. J Cell Sci 2003;116(Pt 14):2975–86.
- [4] Ingber DE, Tensegrity I. Cell structure and hierarchical systems biology. J Cell Sci 2003;116(Pt 7):1157–73.
- [5] Lelievre SA. Contributions of extracellular matrix signaling and tissue architecture to nuclear mechanisms and spatial organization of gene expression control. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009;1790(9):925–35.
- [6] Goicovich E, Molina C, Pérez P, Aguilera S, Fernández J, Olea N, et al. Enhanced degradation of proteins of the basal lamina and stroma by matrix metalloproteinases from the salivary glands of Sjögren's syndrome patients: correlation with reduced structural integrity of acini and ducts. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48(9):2573–84.
- [7] González S, Aguilera S, Alliende C, Urzúa U, Quest A, Herrera L et al. Alterations in type I-hemidesmosome components are linked to changes in epigenetic control in salivary glands from Sjögren's syndrome patients. Submitted. 2010.
- [8] Kwon YJ, Pérez P, Aguilera S, Molina C, Leyton L, Alliende C, et al. Involvement of specific laminins and nidogens in the active remodeling of the basal lamina of labial salivary glands from patients with Sjögren's syndrome. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54(11):3465–75.
- [9] Molina C, Alliende C, Aguilera S, Kwon YJ, Leyton L, Martinez B, et al. Basal lamina disorganisation of the acini and ducts of labial salivary glands from patients with Sjögren's syndrome: association with mononuclear cell infiltration. Ann Rheum Dis 2006;65(2):178–83.
- [10] Pérez P, Kwon YJ, Alliende C, Leyton L, Aguilera S, Molina C, et al. Increased acinar damage of salivary glands of patients with Sjögren's syndrome is paralleled by simultaneous imbalance of matrix metalloproteinase 3/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 and matrix metalloproteinase 9/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 ratios. Arthritis Rheum 2005;52(9): 2751–60.
- [11] Velozo J, Aguilera S, Alliende C, Ewert P, Molina C, Pérez P, et al. Severe alterations in expression and localisation of {alpha}6{beta}4 integrin in salivary gland acini from patients with Sjögren syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis 2009;68(6):991–6.
- [12] Ewert P, Aguilera S, Alliende C, Kwon YJ, Albornoz A, Molina C, et al. Disruption of tight junction structure in salivary glands from Sjögren's syndrome patients is linked to proinflammatory cytokine exposure. Arthritis Rheum 2010;62(5):1280–9.
- [13] Pérez P, Aguilera S, Olea N, Alliende C, Molina C, Brito M, et al. Aberrant localization of ezrin correlates with salivary acini disorganization in Sjögren's syndrome. Rheumatol Oxford 2010;49(5):915–23.
- [14] Pérez P, Anaya JM, Aguilera S, Urzua U, Munroe D, Molina C, et al. Gene expression and chromosomal location for susceptibility to Sjögren's syndrome. J Autoimmun 2009;33(2):99–108.
- [15] Felsenfeld G, Groudine M. Controlling the double helix. Nature 2003;421(6921): 448–53.
- [16] Brooks WH, Le Dantec C, Pers JO, Youinou P, Renaudineau Y. Epigenetics and autoimmunity. J Autoimmun 2010;34(3):J207–19.
- [17] Alezivos I, Illei G. MicroRNAs as biomarkers in rheumatic diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2010;6:391-8.
- [18] Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B. Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. Nature 1983;301(5895):89–92.
- [19] Pan Y, Sawalha AH. Epigenetic regulation and the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Transl Res 2009;153(1):4–10.

- [20] Richardson B. Primer: epigenetics of autoimmunity. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2007;3(9):521–7.
- [21] Bruniquel D, Schwartz RH. Selective, stable demethylation of the interleukin-2 gene enhances transcription by an active process. Nat Immunol 2003;4(3): 235–40.
- [22] Lu Q, Wu A, Richardson BC. Demethylation of the same promoter sequence increases CD70 expression in lupus T cells and T cells treated with lupus-inducing drugs. J Immunol 2005;174(10):6212–9.
- [23] Sekigawa I, Kawasaki M, Ogasawara H, Kaneda K, Kaneko H, Takasaki Y, et al. DNA methylation: its contribution to systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Exp Med 2006;6(3):99–106.
- [24] Takami N, Osawa K, Miura Y, Komai K, Taniguchi M, Shiraishi M, et al. Hypermethylated promoter region of DR3, the death receptor 3 gene, in rheumatoid arthritis synovial cells. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54(3):779–87.
- [25] Lu Q, Renaudineau Y, Cha S, Ilei G, Brooks WH, Selmi C, et al. Epigenetics in autoimmune disorders: highlights of the 10th Sjögren's syndrome symposium. Autoimmun Rev 2010;9(9):627–30.
- [26] Zhou Y, Lu Q. DNA methylation in T cells from idiopathic lupus and drug-induced lupus patients. Autoimmun Rev 2008;7(5):376–83.
- [27] Gorelik G, Richardson B. Aberrant T cell ERK pathway signaling and chromatin structure in lupus. Autoimmun Rev 2009;8(3):196–8.
- [28] Renaudineau Y. The revolution of epigenetics in the field of autoimmunity. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2010;39(1):1–2.
- [29] Gieni RS, Hendzel MJ. Mechanotransduction from the ECM to the genome: are the pieces now in place? J Cell Biochem 2008;104(6):1964–87.
- [30] Wang N, Tytell JD, Ingber DE. Mechanotransduction at a distance: mechanically coupling the extracellular matrix with the nucleus. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10 (1):75–82.
- [31] Close MJ, Howlett AR, Roskelley CD, Desprez PY, Bailey N, Rowning B, et al. Lactoferrin expression in mammary epithelial cells is mediated by changes in cell shape and actin cytoskeleton. J Cell Sci 1997;110(Pt 22):2861–71.
- [32] Fontao L, Stutzmann J, Gendry P, Launay JF. Regulation of the type II hemidesmosomal plaque assembly in intestinal epithelial cells. Exp Cell Res 1999;250(2):298–312.
- [33] Uematsu J, Nishizawa Y, Sonnenberg A, Owaribe K. Demonstration of type II hemidesmosomes in a mammary gland epithelial cell line, BMGE-H. J Biochem 1994;115(3):469–76.
- [34] Koster J, Geerts D, Favre B, Borradori L, Sonnenberg A. Analysis of the interactions between BP180, BP230, plectin and the integrin alpha6beta4 important for hemidesmosome assembly. J Cell Sci 2003;116(Pt 2):387–99.
- [35] Litjens SH, de Pereda JM, Sonnenberg A. Current insights into the formation and breakdown of hemidesmosomes. Trends Cell Biol 2006;16(7):376–83.
- [36] Tamai K, Sawamura D, Do HC, Tamai Y, Li K, Uitto J. The human 230-kD bullous pemphigoid antigen gene (BPAG1). Exon intron organization identification regulatory tissue specific elements promoter region. J Clin Invest 1993;92(2): 814–22.
- [37] Karouzakis E, Gay RE, Michel BA, Gay S, Neidhart M. DNA hypomethylation in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 2009;60(12):3613–22.
- [38] Ospelt C, Gay S. The role of resident synovial cells in destructive arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2008;22(2):239–52.
- [39] Yan C, Boyd DD. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase gene expression. J Cell Physiol 2007;211(1):19–26.
- [40] Tenbrock K, Juang YT, Tolnay M, Tsokos GC. The cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate response element modulator suppresses IL-2 production in stimulated T cells by a chromatin-dependent mechanism. J Immunol 2003;170(6):2971–6.
- [41] Tenbrock K, Juang YT, Gourley MF, Nambiar MP, Tsokos GC. Antisense cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate response element modulator up-regulates IL-2 in T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol 2002;169(8): 4147–52.
- [42] Gomez-Martin D, Diaz-Zamudio M, Crispin JC, Alcocer-Varela J. Interleukin 2 and systemic lupus erythematosus: beyond the transcriptional regulatory net abnormalities. Autoimmun Rev 2009;9(1):34–9.
- [43] Fox RI, Kang HI, Ando D, Abrams J, Pisa E. Cytokine mRNA expression in salivary gland biopsies of Sjogren's syndrome. J Immunol 1994;152(11):5532–9.
- [44] Di Pietro C, Ragusa M, Barbagallo D, Duro LR, Guglielmino MR, Majorana A, et al. The apoptotic machinery as a biological complex system: analysis of its omics and evolution, identification of candidate genes for fourteen major types of cancer, and experimental validation in CML and neuroblastoma. BMC Med Genomics 2009;2:20.
- [45] Michael A, Bajracharya SD, Yuen PS, Zhou H, Star RA, Illei GG, et al. Exosomes from human saliva as a source of microRNA biomarkers. Oral Dis 2010;16(1):34–8.
- [46] Kaneko T, Tamai K, Matsuzaki Y, Yamazaki T, Nakano H, Kon A, et al. Interferon-gamma down-regulates expression of the 230-kDa bullous pemphigoid antigen gene (BPAG1) in epidermal keratinocytes via novel chimeric sequences of ISRE and GAS. Exp Dermatol 2006;15(4):308–14.
- [47] Odanagi M, Kikuchi Y, Yamazaki T, Kaneko T, Nakano H, Tamai K, et al. Transcriptional regulation of the 230-kDa bullous pemphigoid antigen gene expression by interferon regulatory factor 1 and interferon regulatory factor 2 in normal human epidermal keratinocytes. Exp Dermatol 2004;13(12):773–9.